**RECEIVED**

**Oct 04 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
In The Court of Common Pleas for the Eighth Circuit

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001162

---

Lisa Summer Rice and Joseph F. Rice.....Appellants

v.

Newberry Lions Club and C. Ray Amick.....Respondents

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Thomas H. Pope III  
Kyle B. Parker  
Pope Parker Jenkins, P.A.  
P.O. Box 190  
Newberry, South Carolina 29108  
Phone: (803) 276-2532  
Fax: (803) 276-8684  
tom@ppjlaw.com  
kyle@ppjlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellants Lisa Summer Rice  
and Joseph F. Rice

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE EQUITIES FAVORED THE RESPONDENTS WHEN, IN FACT, THE EQUITIES FAVORED THE APPELLANTS, SUPPORTING AN AWARD OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE?
  
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE LIONS CLUB LETTER OF JANUARY 2017 WAS NOT, IN FACT, AN OFFER TO SELL TO THE HIGHEST BIDDER VALID UNTIL JUNE 1, 2017, AND THAT AS OF THAT DEADLINE, THE HIGHEST BID, AND THEREFORE, THE RIGHT TO THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, BY ORDER OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE, BELONGED TO APPELLANTS?
  - A. Were The Statements Made by the Lions Club President and Its Secretary Admitting that the Offer Letter was an Offer to Sell to the Highest Bidder Disregarded by the Lower Court and Erroneously Excluded from Admission into Evidence Based on the Parol Evidence Rule and the Statute of Frauds?
  
  - B. Was The Lions Club’s Intent to Offer the Property for Sale to the Highest Bidder Clear from Its “Offer Letter,” as well as from the Facts in the Record, and Its Offer was Accepted by Appellants?
  
  - C. In the Alternative, Was the Lions Club Letter Ambiguous as to Whether It Was or Was Not an Offer to Sell The Property to the Highest Bidder Such that Extrinsic Evidence Was Admissible to Explain the Intent of the Terms Used in the Letter, Which the Lower Court Should have Considered and Should Have Concluded the Letter Was An Offer to Sell to the Highest Bidder?
  
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THERE WAS NO CONTRACT FORMED BETWEEN THE LIONS CLUB AND APPELLANTS AND IN DENYING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE?
  - A. Did Appellants Establish that a Contract Was Formed Between Lions Club and Appellants and They Were Entitled to Prevail on the Cause of Action for Specific Performance?
  
  - B. Based on the Evidence, Was Respondent Amick Not a Bona Fide Purchaser for Value Without Notice So As To Defeat Appellants’ Claim for Specific Performance And the Lions Club Deed to Him Should be Set Aside?
  
- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE APPELLANTS HAD ESTABLISHED THEIR RIGHT TO THE PROPERTY UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL?

- V. DID THE LOWER COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN EXCLUDING THE EXPERT TESTIMONY OF STEVEN SPITZ PROFFERED BY APPELLANTS, WHERE AT LEAST PORTIONS OF HIS PROPOSED TESTIMONY WERE ADMISSIBLE UNDER VORTEX SPORTS V. WARE, 378 S.C. 197, 662 SE2D 444 (2008)?
- VI. DID THE COURT MAKE OTHER ERRONEOUS MISCELLANEOUS FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW?
- A. Did The Court Err in Finding and Concluding that the 1933 Resolution Barred a Sale of the Property to Appellants, as They Were Not Members of the Lions Club?
  - B. Did The Court Err in Finding that Amick Did Not Attempt to Improperly Influence the Lions Club Board?
  - C. Did The Trial Court Err in Overlooking the Fact that Amick Withdrew His Bid at the May 23, 2017, Board Meeting?
  - D. Did The Trial Court Err in Finding and Concluding That The Lions Club and Amick Could Not Convey Marketable Title with Encroachments?
  - E. Did The Trial Court Err in Finding or Implying that Amick Was Not Present at the Lions Club Board Meeting on November 28, 2017?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this appeal, Appellants contend that they were the successful highest bidder in response to an offer presented by a letter of Respondent Lions Club to sell approximately five acres at Lake Murray and were entitled to specific performance. They seek reversal of the ruling of the Circuit Court, without a jury, finding and concluding that there was no offer, no acceptance, and thus no contract to be enforced between Appellants and the Lions Club.

The Summons and Complaint were filed on February 20, 2018, in the Newberry County Court of Common Pleas. The pleadings in this case also presented issues on the existence of an easement in favor of Appellants. A separate complaint of another plaintiff was commenced on the easement issue. By Order of the Chief Administrative Judge of the Eighth Judicial Circuit dated December 3, 2019, the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. dated December 3, 2019, ordered that the cases be declared complex and that they be consolidated and assigned to the Honorable J. Mark Hayes for management and trial. The contractual and easement issues were later bifurcated for trial by Order of Judge Hayes.

The Summons and Complaint in this matter was amended several times, the final applicable pleading being the Fifth Amended Complaint dated August 31, 2021. The pertinent portion of this Complaint to the instant appeal sought a declaratory judgment that an enforceable agreement with the Lions Club for Appellants' purchase of its five acres at Lake Murray was formed. It also sought an Order setting aside the Lions Club conveyance to Respondent Amick and an Order directing the Lions Club to specifically perform the agreement with Appellants and for other relief related to the cause of action for specific performance.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> This appeal only concerns the contractual claims tried by Judge Hayes on May 31, 2022, and June 1, 2022. The easement claims are not at issue and remain in the Lower Court.

The Answers of Respondents denied the causes of action. In Amick's Second Amended Answer and Crossclaim, he cross-claimed against Lions Club for indemnification, breach of deed warranty, and for damages and fees (Amick's Second Amended Answer and Crossclaim filed 5/24/22).

Substantial discovery was undertaken. On August 13, 2020, Respondent Amick moved for Partial Summary Judgment. By Order dated December 9, 2020, the Circuit Court granted the motion. Appellants filed a timely Motion to Reconsider/Alter or Amend that Order on December 18, 2020. Because of Covid, and lack of courtroom availability, the case proceeded slowly for many months.

In its Order (Form 4) dated December 8, 2021, the Lower Court granted Appellant's Motion to Reconsider the previous Order of August 13, 2020, and a trial was scheduled as soon as courtroom availability was possible.

The non-jury trial on the merits was conducted on May 31 and June 1, 2022, with Judge Hayes presiding. The Appellants presented the testimony of two witnesses and also published portions of the depositions of several witnesses: Lions Club President Eugene Crocker (two depositions); Lions Club Treasurer Pete Simpson (two depositions); and, Ray Amick (two depositions). Appellants presented 40 exhibits (two being submitted by proffer of an expert whose testimony the Court had previously ruled was not admissible).

Respondents presented the testimony of Lisa Lee Smith, Ray Amick, Eugene Crocker, and Pete Simpson, and had seven trial exhibits. Respondents also published portions of the depositions of Appellants.

On September 2, 2022, the Lower Court filed a Form 4 Order, with a lengthy memorandum attached, requesting that Respondents' counsel prepare a proposed Order ruling in favor of Respondents, with specific instructions. (Order dated September 2, 2022).

On October 25, 2022, the Order Finding in Favor of Respondents Newberry Lions Club and C. Ray Amick was filed on the contractual claims. On November 4, 2022, Appellants timely filed their Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Alter or Amend. Respondent Amick filed on January 18, 2023, a Response in Opposition to Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend. By Form 4 Order (with explanatory memo attached) filed on May 16, 2023, the trial court informed counsel that oral argument would not benefit the Court and directed Respondents' counsel to prepare an Order denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider. (Order dated May 18, 2023). The Lower Court's Order Denying the Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend was filed on June 22, 2023. (Order dated June 22, 2023). Appellants' Notice of Appeal from the Order of October 25, 2022, and from the Order of June 22, 2023, was filed on July 19, 2023, with the Clerk of Court of Newberry County and filed on July 20, 2023, with this Honorable Court.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **A. Background Through 2016**

The Newberry Lions Club was formed in 1928 as a South Carolina non-profit charitable corporation (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1 and 2; Simpson deposition on 10/22/18, pp. 5-6). The object of the Lions Club is set forth in its Constitution and By-Laws: "...for service-minded people to serve their community without personal financial reward and to encourage and promote high ethical standards in commerce and private endeavors." (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2).

The Lions Club property in Newberry County is known as “Lions Club Point”, a peninsula on Lake Murray which included a small clubhouse where the Lions Club held its meetings and events. The property was acquired in the 1930’s initially consisting of seven to ten acres. The Lions Club during the 1970’s sold several lots of the land to members who built cabins or homes on those parcels.

Membership in the Lions Club had declined precipitously by 2015 (Crocker deposition, p. 2). By 2016, the Board of Directors of the Lions Club had stopped meeting at the clubhouse. (Simpson deposition on 10/22/18, p. 10). Beginning in 2015, the Board discussed selling the remaining Lions Club property (Simpson deposition on 10/22/18, pp. 11 and 18), which then consisted of approximately 5.5 acres (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 6). The Board of Directors deliberated about how the Lions Club should go about selling the property. (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 3 and Exhibit 4). Listing the property with a real estate broker was rejected because it would involve the cost of a realtor’s commission (Crocker deposition on 10/22/18, p. 14).

Per vote of the Board of Directors, the property was appraised in 2016. (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 4). The Club had previously decided that the proceeds from a sale would go to charity (Crocker deposition on 10/22/18, p. 11; Simpson deposition on 10/22/18, p. 19).

At a Board Meeting on September 27, 2016, Amick (not a member of the Board) attended and expressed interest in buying the Lions Club property. (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 4). Lions Club President Gene Crocker stated that Amick had informally expressed his interest in buying the property several times prior to that (Crocker deposition, p. 10).

#### **B. From January 2017 to June 1, 2017**

The Appellants, residents of Charleston County, were not Lions Club members and they did not attend any Board Meetings. (Transcript, pp. 38, 62). They learned of the meetings only

from discovery during this litigation.<sup>2</sup> The minutes of the meeting of the Lions Club Board of Directors on January 24, 2017, reflect that Club President Crocker presented the Board with a proposed letter to the adjoining property owners “to send to them regarding the proposed sale of the property.” (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 5, Simpson deposition, p. 28). Respondent Amick was not a member of the Board of the Lions Club in 2017, but he attended all but the April meeting that year. (Amick deposition, pp. 25-26; Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 5). This was unusual, but he attended the meetings because he wanted to buy the property. (Amick deposition, p. 20). Simpson agreed that it would be highly unusual if a non-member attended board meetings with a “personal agenda.” (Simpson deposition, p. 88).

When Crocker presented his proposed letter to the Board at the meeting, Amick spoke up and told the Board that “he wanted to have until June 1<sup>st</sup> to make a decision as to whether he could purchase [the property]” and the Board agreed to his request to extend the date until June 1<sup>st</sup> (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 5; Amick testimony, p. 250; Simpson deposition pp. 29-30). Crocker’s letter was amended to provide for a deadline of June 1 and the letter, as amended, was approved by the Board at the meeting. (Simpson deposition, p. 30; Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 7).

The Lions Club letter, authored by President Crocker, amended by the Lions Club Board, and signed by Secretary Pete Simpson was sent to 12 adjoining property owners (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 9). The terms of the letters to each property owner were identical. (Plaintiffs’ Exhibits 6 and 7). The specific terms and conditions of the offer of the Lions Club were stated in the letter as follows:

---

<sup>2</sup> This Statement of Facts is based upon the record developed in discovery. Mr. Rice testified that the only access he had to information about the Lions Club was his initial conversation with Simpson and the letter of June 5, 2017, from Lions Club attorney Verner. Everything else he learned during 2017, he received from lake neighbor Claude Schumpert, based on hearsay and rumors. He had seen no Board meeting minutes of the Lions Club or documents prior to discovery in this case. (Transcript, p. 62). The Lions Club never called him in 2017, nor did it answer the letters his attorney sent to the Lions Club in February, May, and November of that year. (Transcript, pp. 52, 59)

Dear \_\_\_\_\_ :

The Newberry Lions Club was chartered in 1928 and has a rich history of serving Lions International and a large number of charitable causes in Newberry County and the state of South Carolina. From the beginning we had a large and enthusiastic membership, and many years ago arrangements were made to purchase property on Lake Murray for a club house. In subsequent years some of that property was sold to individuals for lake front homes.

At the present time, the Lions Club owns 5.5 acres including the club house. As with many civic clubs, the membership in the Newberry Lions Club has fallen in recent years. We no longer are able to use the club house as we once used it, and the maintenance of the property has become a burden on the current members. We have reluctantly decided to offer the property for sale. We have also decided to make the property available first to those individuals whose property adjoins the Lions Club property.

A recent plat was prepared, which we are including with this letter. Also, a recent appraisal determined a current value of \$369,000.00 for this property. The club members have decided to ask \$300,000.00 if we can make the sale without involving a realtor. If you have an interest in the property please let us know right away. We will be happy to answer any questions you might have. First consideration will be given to current members of the Newberry Lions Club.

As an additional note, the presence of a septic tank and well adds value to the property. Any encroachments will have to be settled after the property is sold.

This offer is valid until June 1, 2017, at which time the property will be advertised for sale to the public.

Yours truly,

Pete Simpson,  
Secretary, Newberry Lions Club                      (Plaintiffs' Exhibits 6 and 7)

Each of the Lions Club officers acknowledged that the letter required any bid meet the following conditions: (1) payment of at least \$300,000; (2) must be from an adjacent property owner; (3) acceptance of encroachments; (4) first consideration would be given to current Lions Club members; and, (5) the offer would be valid until June 1, 2017, after which time the property would be advertised for sale to the public. (Simpson deposition, p. 39; Crocker deposition, p. 17). President Crocker testified that this was a "hard deadline." (Crocker deposition, p. 69) and that the intent of the letter was that if Amick was going to buy the property he had to buy it with

encroachments by June 1 or it would be offered to the public. (Crocker deposition in *Schumpert*, p. 39). Mr. Amick submitted a bid in response to the Lions Club offer in February. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 32).

While he did not initially receive the letter due to a mishap with his address, Mr. Rice testified that after learning about the offer letter from the Lions Club, he called Mr. Simpson, the signatory on the letter, and that Simpson told him that the sale was "going to the highest bidder." (Transcript, p. 46-47).<sup>3</sup> Based on that conversation, Mr. Rice had his attorney, Sid Boone, write a letter dated February 14, 2017, accepting all conditions and submitting a bid of \$325,000. (Transcript, p. 47-48; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 13). Rice testified that he was willing to accept encroachments because these encroachments were matters known by all in the neighborhood for decades. (Transcript, p. 74). Rice also pointed out that "you buy properties all the time that have encroachments, whether it be easements or power line situations. As long as it's disclosed, it's not a problem." (Transcript, p. 48). The Lions Club never responded to Rice's bid that attorney Boone sent on February 14, 2017. (Transcript, p. 49).

Claude Schumpert is an adjacent landowner who received the Lions Club letter. He testified that after he received the letter, he called Pete Simpson who referred him to Club President Gene Crocker. Schumpert then called Crocker to inquire about the process for the sale and Crocker said the Lions Club was offering the property to the "highest bidder." (Transcript, p. 128). Schumpert made contemporaneous notes during the call and wrote on his copy of the offer letter "Gene Crocker" and "highest bid." (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 41). Crocker assured Schumpert in this call that the letter was intended exactly as Schumpert wrote: the property would be sold to the "highest bidder." (Transcript, pp. 128-129).

---

<sup>3</sup> Simpson then sent the letter to Rice. (Transcript, p. 44).

The Lions Club offer letter, according to its President Crocker, was described as an offer:

“...which would remain until June the 1<sup>st</sup> prior to being publicly offered. So it was an exclusive offer until June the 1<sup>st</sup> for the lake property owners.”

(Crocker deposition, p. 29) (emphasis added)

Rice later heard (inaccurately) from Mr. Schumpert that Amick’s bid was \$325,000 and, if a member of the Lions Club offered the same price, that member would have the right to buy the property. (Rice testimony, pp. 49-50; Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 14). Mr. Schumpert also had responded to the Lion’s Club offer letter accepting all terms and conditions and agreeing to a price of \$300,000. (Schumpert testimony, p. 129). He wrote an email to Mr. Rice on April 18, 2017, about a conversation he (Schumpert) had with President Crocker in which Crocker told him that Amick had matched the highest bid offered from other recipients of the offer letter and “he (Amick) has until June 1 to close on the offer.” (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 14).<sup>4</sup>

Later, Mr. Rice, not having received any confirmation about the bid submitted on February 14, instructed his attorney Sid Boone write another letter dated May 15, 2017, which stated that the Rices were the successful highest bidder and that they wanted to close. (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 15). Because of inaccurate information he received from Schumpert, it further stated that if the Lions Club was using a different bid process, the Rices wanted to participate in same. The letter concluded by stating, based on the original offer of the Lions Club, “please do not make any conveyance to any parties except the Rices. Otherwise, we will be forced to bring a declaratory

---

<sup>4</sup> Secretary Simpson was asked in deposition if he told Appellant Rice that Lions Club was offering the property for sale to adjacent property owners until June 1 and he responded that he did not deny, but did not recall, that statement. (Simpson deposition, pp. 34-35). He said he did not recall telling Rice that the Lions Club was selling the property to the highest bid received from an adjacent property owner. (Simpson deposition, p. 35). At trial he denied telling Mr. Rice that.

judgment action to establish the Rices as the successful bidders for the property pursuant to their original bid.” (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 15). Mr. Rice testified that, at this point, before the June 1 deadline, as the high bidder, he was ready to close. (Transcript, p. 54). Rice also stated that the May 15 letter of Mr. Boone was consistent with what Simpson told Rice about the highest bidder getting the property. (Transcript, p. 55).

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