**RECEIVED**

**Mar 06 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

Trial Court Case No. 2018CP3600089  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001162

---

Lisa Summer Rice and Joseph F. Rice..... Appellants,

v.

Newberry Lions Club and Betty S. Amick, as Personal Representative of the Estate of C. Ray Amick,..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BETTY S. AMICK, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF C. RAY AMICK**

---

Demetri K. Koutrakos, SC Bar No. 11318  
Harry A. Dixon, SC Bar No. 103509

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

Furthermore, “[a]n offer is the manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made as to justify another person in understanding that his assent to that bargain is invited and will conclude it.” *Prescott v. Farmers Tel. Co-op., Inc.*, 335 S.C. 330, 336, 516 S.E.2d 923, 926 (1999). “An offer, to constitute a contract, must be one which is intended of itself to create legal relations on acceptance, and if it is an offer merely to open negotiations which may ultimately result in a contract it is not binding.” *McLaurin v. Hamer*, 165 S.C. 411, 164 S.E. 2, 5 (1932).

In *McLaurin*, the defendant sent a letter to his brother stating he would buy out several other investors and he thought he could obtain financing to do so. *See McLaurin*, 165 S.C. 411, 164 S.E. at 4. The defendant's letter further directed the brother to “see boys at once and see what they would like to do” and stated “[i]f all decide to do this have each write me at once and you

wire me ‘all accept’ . . . .” *Id.* Despite addressing an alleged offer that contained instructions for accepting, *McLaurin* held this letter was not “such an offer as could, by acceptance, be changed, converted or construed into a binding agreement of sale.” *Id.* at 165 S.C. 411, 164 S.E. at 5. The trial court then cited authority explaining that some offers are offers to open preliminary negotiations rather than to form a contract and upheld the trial court’s directed verdict in favor of the defendant. *See id.*

The Lions Club Letter was not an offer because it merely opened negotiations for the Property and did not indicate that an offer could be accepted or that assent to certain terms would conclude a deal. *Compare* (R. pp. 1044–46) *with McLaurin*, 165 S.C. at 411, 164 S.E. at 5; *Prescott*, 335 S.C. at 336, 516 S.E.2d at 926. Like the *McLaurin* letter, the Lions Club Letter was not an offer capable of acceptance and was meant to open negotiations with the adjoining landowners and Lions Club members. First, it sought expressions of interest from the letter’s recipients by stating, “[i]f you have an interest in the property please let us know right away.” (R. pp. 1044–46). Moreover, the Lions Club Letter did not invite acceptance but offers by stating, “[f]irst consideration will be given to current members of the Newberry Lions Club.” *Id.* (emphasis added). By stating members would receive first consideration, the Lions Club indicated more work remained before concluding a bargain—the Lions Club would have to consider any offers and decide which offer to accept. *Id.* The Lions Club Letter also noted a recent appraisal of the Property for \$369,000.00 but that the Lions Club “decided to ask” \$300,000.00 for the sale of the Property “if we can make the sale without involving a realtor.” *Id.*

Conversely, the Rices assert the phrases “decided to offer the property for sale” and “[t]his offer is valid until” make the Lions Club Letter an offer capable of being accepted to conclude a bargain. However, the *McLaurin* letter contained directions for communicating agreement, but

*McLaurin* held that an acceptance could not conclude the bargain. Like *McLaurin*, more remained to conclude a deal with the Lions Club, regardless of the term “offer.” In fact, the Rices realized as much: the Rice Response described itself as a “bid” rather than an “acceptance” and only contemplated acceptance by the Lions Club, stating, “We would need 30 days from notice that the **bid was accepted . . .**” (R. p. 1051) (emphasis added).

The Rice Response used terminology that indicated its writer knew the Lions Club Letter was incapable of being accepted to form a binding and enforceable contract. The Rice Response, sent by the Rices’ attorney, indicated he was authorized to make a bid of \$325,000.00, subject only to having a good and marketable title for the property. He explained his understanding was that the bids were to be opened at a February 28th meeting and that the encroachments on the property would have to be cleared after the property was sold. He asked for 30 days once the bid was accepted before closing to conduct a title search. These terms indicate an intent consistent with engaging in negotiations rather than unconditional acceptance of an offer to form a binding contract.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Lions Club Letter from the Lions Club was ambiguous and required the use of extrinsic evidence to conclude that the Lions Club intended to express an offer capable of acceptance—including an intent to sell to the highest bidder—such an ambiguous letter would not be capable of acceptance. A letter so ambiguous could not be imposed as a binding interpretation on parties whose minds, as the evidence shows, never met on any contract terms. The only proper conclusion is that the Lions Club Letter was not an offer capable of unconditional acceptance but rather was an offer only in the sense of offering to engage in negotiations concerning the sale of the Property.

Accordingly, the Lions Club Letter was an “offer” only to open negotiations and did not state an offer capable of acceptance. *Cf. McLaurin*, 165 S.C. at 411, 164 S.E. at 5 (letter at issue was not “such an offer as could, by acceptance, be changed, converted or construed into a binding agreement of sale.”).

**B. The Trial Court Properly Held That the Rice Response Was Not an Acceptance as a Matter of Law.**

Even if the Lions Club Letter were an offer, the Rice Response was not an acceptance as a matter of law because the Rice Response used the language of making a bid or offer in response to the Lions Club Letter; the Rice Response was sent by counsel, indicating it was not an acceptance; and it violated South Carolina’s “mirror-image” rule by requiring additional terms.

“Acceptance of an offer is a manifestation of assent to the terms thereof made by the offeree in a manner invited or required by the offer.” *See Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter*, 357 S.C. 363, 369, 593 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2004). Further, “[t]he acceptance must be unequivocal and unconditional” and additional conditions operate as a rejection and counteroffer. *See Sossamon v. Littlejohn*, 241 S.C. 478, 486, 129 S.E.2d 124, 128 (1963) (“If a condition is affixed to the acceptance by the party to whom the offer is made or any modification of, or change in, the offer is made or requested, there is a rejection of the offer, which puts an end to the negotiations, unless the party who made the original offer renews it or assents to the modification suggested.”); *see also Columbia Hyundai, Inc. v. Carll Hyundai, Inc.*, 326 S.C. 78, 80, 484 S.E.2d 468, 469 (1997).

In *Sossamon*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a purported acceptance letter opening with “[y]our offer of sale . . . is hereby accepted” but including different terms for the time and manner of payment “imposed new or other conditions not contemplated in the offer” and that the purported acceptance was in fact a rejection and counteroffer. *Sossamon*, 241 S.C. at 487,

129 S.E.2d at 128. Similarly, in *Columbia Hyundai*, the trial court held there was no contract under the mirror image rule where the party attempting to accept added only the words “current year” between the words “saleable” and “new” in the phrase “[a]ll of Seller’s right title and interest in and to all saleable new Hyundai vehicles.” *Columbia Hyundai, Inc.*, 326 S.C. at 80, 484 S.E.2d at 469 (upholding a jury verdict finding there was no contract).

The Rice Response, by its own terms, did not attempt to accept an offer—the only “acceptance” discussed was if the Lions Club accepted the Rices’ bid. *See, e.g., Electro-Lab of Aiken*, 357 S.C. at 369, 593 S.E.2d at 173 (an acceptance requires a manifestation of assent). Specifically, the Rice Response stated: (1) The Rices authorized their attorney to “make a bid of \$325,000.00”; (2) The Rices understood the “bids” would be opened at an upcoming meeting; and (3) The Rices “would need 30 days from notice that **the bid was accepted**” to close the sale. (emphasis added). The use of the term “bid” three times and their request that the Lions Club inform the Rices if the Lions Club accepted the bid is dispositive. A “bid” is “[a] buyer’s *offer* to pay a specified price for something that may or may not be for sale.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (emphasis added); *see also Ramsay v. Vogel*, 970 F.2d 471, 463 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992) (“the words ‘bid’ and ‘bidder’ commonly are used to refer to the making of an offer to buy or sell property or to provide services in a private sale or transaction.”). Accordingly, these statements show the Rices did not attempt to accept an offer but made an offer—a bid—that they understood would have to be accepted by the Lions Club.

The Rices did not otherwise manifest an acceptance. Instead, their attorney sent a letter indicating the Rices’ interest. While Sidney Boone was Joe Rice’s attorney-in-fact, Lisa Rice was the adjoining landowner, and Sidney Boone did not purport to act as Joe Rice’s attorney-in-fact but as counsel for the Rices. Attorneys engaged as counsel do not ordinarily bind their clients

through letters sent on their behalf, and the purported acceptance could not do so here. *See* 7A C.J.S. *Attorney & Client* § 284 (“Unless empowered to do so, an attorney has no authority to bid or contract to purchase property for his or her client.”). This conclusion is not altered because the attorney was actually Joe Rice’s attorney-in-fact—the Rice Response is clear he was acting as counsel rather than as their attorney-in-fact.

The Rice Response also would not be an acceptance even if the Rice Response were titled “**WE ACCEPT**” because South Carolina law follows the mirror image rule. Specifically, the Rice Response contained three conditions not present in the Lions Club Letter:

1. **A good title condition:** “subject only to the property having good and marketable title”;
2. **The 30 Days to Close Condition:** The Rices “need 30 days from notice that the bid was accepted in which to conduct the title search and close” with payment “due and payable at closing”; and
3. **A different price term:** The Lions Club asked for \$300,000.00, while the Rices offered \$325,000.00.

First, the Lions Club Letter did not explain what title the Lions Club would convey and stated that encroachments would have to be dealt with after the property was sold. While the Rice Response accepted the encroachment issue, the “good and marketable” title condition added terms not in the Lions Club Letter.

Second, the Lions Club Letter (assuming it was an offer) was silent regarding terms of payment and delivering possession of the Property. Where the contract is silent on these terms, South Carolina law assumes payment in full upon tender of the property. *See Sossamon*, 241 S.C. at 485, 129 S.E.2d at 127 (“when the plaintiff proposed in his alleged acceptance conditions other than cash upon delivery of the property . . . he imposed new or other conditions not contemplated in the offer.”). By requiring 30 days to search title with payment at closing, the Rices conditioned their acceptance of the alleged offer and therefore rejected it.

Third, the Rice Response stated a different price. While the Rices offered a price higher than what the Lions Club sought, the Lions Club Letter indicated the club was selling the property for less than the appraisal and that first consideration would go to Lions Club members. Obtaining the highest price was not the Lions Club’s sole or primary goal by the terms of the letter, and the Rices offered a different price term.

Conversely, the Rices have asserted an “auction” theory and that they had the supposed last bid on June 1, 2017. Specifically, the Rices assert Mr. Amick withdrew his offer, leaving the Rices’ bid and one other offer as the only operative offers on June 1, 2017. Following this theory, the Rices’ bid must have been accepted because it was higher than the other offer. However, the record does not support any such procedure by the Lions Club.<sup>6</sup> Rather, the record is clear the “auction” theory is actually the Rices’ own characterization outside of the Lions Club Letter. Indisputably, the Lions Club Letter—which stated “This offer is valid until June 1, 2017, at which time the property will be advertised for sale to the public”—did not impose a hard deadline to *sell* by June 1 as part of an auction process. *See, e.g., Barr v. Lyle*, 263 S.C. 426, 430, 211 S.E.2d 232, 234 (1975) (a writing must show the contract’s essential terms without needing parol evidence).<sup>7</sup>

Accordingly, the unambiguous Rice Response would not be an acceptance even if the Lions Club Letter were an offer. The Rice Response was written by counsel, who lacked apparent authority at that time to make a binding acceptance, and the language of the Rice Response shows an intent to make an offer rather than accept an offer. The Rices never accepted and instead made

---

<sup>6</sup> The Lions Club Letter on its face does not contemplate an auction, and the Lions Club members that testified were clear there was no “bid” or “auction” process. *See, e.g.,* (R. pp. 863) (Crocker 2018 Deposition) (“By the way, the letter did not specify bidding procedure and it really was just requesting if there was interest. It stated the asking price.”).

<sup>7</sup> The application of the parol evidence rule and statute of frauds to this case is discussed below. *See* § C, *infra*.

an offer expressly leaving it to the Lions Club to decide whether to accept the Rices' offer. And like *Sossamon* and *Columbia Hyundai*, the Rice Response added terms in the alleged acceptance and could not have accepted any offer in the Lions Club Letter as a matter of law because of South Carolina's mirror image rule.

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in holding that the Rice Response was not an acceptance.

**C. The Trial Court Properly Held that the Parol Evidence Rule and the Statute of Frauds Require that the Contract be Established Through Only the Lions Club Letter and the Rice Response, if at all.**

The trial court held the Lions Club Letter and the Rice Response were the only competent evidence as to whether the Lions Club and the Rices formed a contract because the parol evidence rule and the statute of frauds applied to this case over two letters. On appeal, the Rices now assert 1) Mr. Amick cannot raise the parol evidence rule and the statute of frauds and 2) in any event those doctrines do not apply in this case. However, the Rices are incorrect, and the trial court properly looked to only the Lions Club Letter and the Rice Response.

***1. The Rices waived any argument that Mr. Amick was barred from asserting the parol evidence rule and the statute of frauds by not raising it at trial.***

As the trial court held, the Rices first raised this argument in their motion to reconsider, and therefore, the argument is waived. (R. pp. 72) ("raising such issues for the first time through a post-trial motion is not appropriate.") (citing *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) and *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990)); *see also* (R. pp. 388–89) (¶ 26).

Conversely, the Rices have not identified where this argument was properly raised at trial and instead assert that they preserved it by proffering evidence. *See Appellant's Brief* at 20, n. 5. However, the trial court heard argument on Mr. Amick's motion in limine to exclude all extrinsic

evidence other than the two letters, and the Rices did not raise this argument at that time. (R. pp. 410–16).

Accordingly, the Rices’ new post-trial argument that Mr. Amick cannot raise the parol evidence rule and/or the statute of frauds was waived.

**2. *The Lions Club joined in Mr. Amick’s motion in limine to exclude all evidence other than the two letters as not competent under the parol evidence rule and statute of frauds.***

The Lions Club joined in the motion by Mr. Amick over the application of the parol evidence rule and statute of frauds:

6	THE COURT: Anything from the Newberry Lions Club on
7	the motion in limine?
8	MR. PRICE: Judge, we would stand with Mr. Amick’s
9	attorneys.
10	THE COURT: Okay. Announce your name for the court
11	reporter.
12	MR. PRICE: Oh, excuse me. Sam Price. I represent the
13	Lions Club.

(R. p. 413). Accordingly, the Lions Club agreed the parol evidence rule and statute of frauds applied and asserted so at trial.

**3. *Mr. Amick would not be a “stranger” to the alleged agreement under the Rices’ theory.***

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